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Abstract
From the late 19th century to the early 20th century, a number of missionary universities and

colleges made outstanding contributions to higher education in China and left a valuable
architectural heritage on their campuses. Among them, the University of Nanking (UNK),
which is Nanjing University today, has played a significant role in the modern history of
China. This project uses the renovation of an anonymous building on the UNK campus as an
opportunity to illustrate the value of the building and offer a scheme for its conservation. The
project applies archival research methods on historical documents, photos and maps; and
empirical research via a site survey examining architectural features. The findings reveal the
building (built no later than 1911) was the residence of John Elias Williams, a vice president
of UNK. Next to the central axis of the campus, his residence was built temporary with a
good view for supervising the construction of the campus. This research-based project
enriches the history of UNK by recognising the cultural significance of an anonymous
campus building, which provides important evidence for the development process of UNK.

Keywords: John Elias Williams; University of Nanking; missionary university; built

heritage; campus heritage; architectural conservation; sense of place



1. Introduction

From the late 19th century to the early 20th century, a number of universities and
colleges were established as the forerunners of modern higher education in China. Missionary
universities directly introduced Western modern education to China and had a profound
influence on culture, education, science and technology, medicine and other fields, with a
tremendous influence on China’s higher education. These missionary universities not only
laid a strong foundation for China’s higher education and contributed to the cultivation of
talent in many fields, but also left a valuable architectural heritage in campus planning and
campus architecture.

Campus buildings, as the architectural heritage of a university, play a significant role in
school or campus identity in Western universities. However, campus architectural heritage
has not been well preserved in China. The heritage status of China’s historic campus
buildings does not often match the value of campus built heritage. In other words, the value
of campus built heritage has often been neglected or misunderstood, and consequently
damaged in the absence of heritage listing. To understand the value of campus built heritage,
its history and attached socio-cultural and emotional values should be taken into
consideration; and the built heritage along with the campus should be defined as a place full
of humanistic spirits and values. However, the sense of place has been diminishing in many
Chinese universities because of the the mismatch between the history of a university and its
campus, losing their genius loci and the identity of a place (Uzzell 1996).

Nowadays, the concept of place is widely used in the field of heritage management.
From this perspective, heritage should be defined as a place that includes a historic building
or site, as well as its history and attached socio-cultural environment. As Smith (2006, 75)

argues:



This idea of place is vital for understanding heritage. Heritage as place, or
‘heritage places’, may not only be conceived as representational of past
human experiences, but also as creating an affect on current experiences
and perceptions of the world. Thus, a heritage place may represent or
stand in for a sense of identity and belonging for particular individuals or
groups. However, it may also structure an individual’s response and the
experiences an individual may have at that place, while also framing and

defining the social meanings these encounters engender.

This project discovers an unvalued and anonymous campus building being renovated on
the north Gulou campus of Nanjing University that commissioned by the university
administration department. Nanjing University derives from UNK and occupies the former
site of UNK in the former capital city Nanjing (spelled ‘Nanking’ in the past). By examining
historic photos, maps, documents and relevant archives, and reporting on a site and
architectural inspection, this project aims to discover the history and value of the anonymous
building on campus to address research questions such as When was the building built? Who
worked or lived in this building? What was the relationship between this building and the
campus? Then, the findings may help to determine how to conserve the value of this building
and its surrounding environment in practice, which will further create a sense of place and
identities attached to the campus and build connections between the campus and students,
staff and alumni.

In this research-based project, empirical research methods were applied, involving
historical materials and material objects that are mutually validated. Specifically, literature
and archival research (history, documents, photos and historic maps) were adopted to
discover historic information about the anonymous building. Site and architectural surveys

were also conducted to examine aspects of the building such as its architectural features.



Regarding the architectural survey, our team participated in the site and architectural
surveys and the conservation process from 2018 to 2019. By carefully examining the building
in terms of its space, materials and structure, a digital model of the building was
reconstructed to analyse and understand its construction process and characteristics. Then the
building was restored based on information of its current state, archival research and the
digital model analysis.These archival research and architectural analyses contributed to the
final scenario of building conservation, which may create a sense of place on campus.

2. Discovering an anonymous building on campus
A diagram is used to give the reader an overview of the process of discovering the key

figure who worked or lived in this building (Figure 1).

Commissioned rencvation of an
Tho arigin of the project amarymous building
]
L ] T
Tha Building iz lacated in the Chinese fafl Rved a5 3 groug in
The roof truss of this building central area of the campus, the west part of the campus.
Dawbis and suspiclons wias canstructed by imported nexAt to the old gate and main The bullding s isalated fram
Dsiglag fir, aae o the uimeeraity, Taing that graisp far Chimsee stall ansd
tawards the uriversity chapel. looks lke a house for foreigner
Wity is this building located i the central area of
¥ ¥
" Pl chitectural drawings,
D s i gk i
Reference and ewidenos photas from Yabe Urniversity e
anid Dk University Library s ool am it aiiicy
of Unhversity of Nanking
Resuft By figure

{webses wearkad ar lhvedd in this bsding]

Figure 1 The process of finding the key figure who lived or worked in this anonymous building

The research began with an inspection, which revealed a complex roof structure made of
strong timber material, with a bottom chord made of Douglas fir and reaching12 metres.
According to Chinese architectural history, Douglas fir was not a local construction material
grown in China but was imported from overseas, which was rarely used in local buildings.

Therefore, the owner/user/administrator of the building was suspected of having the power to



obtain the overseas material to construct such a building. Further, the layout of the building
differs from that of a traditional Chinese residence, suggesting it was designed as a foreign
residence. Regarding its position, the building is located next to the main axis of the historic
campus region, which is the central area of the campus. Thus, two emerging questions were
why was this building built in the central area of UNK; and who worked or lived in this
building? As a missionary university founded by American churches, UNK has separate
zones for teaching and residence. The outstanding position of the building, located in the
central area on campus, implies it might be used by a Westerner of high social status who
must have a close relationship with the university.

Historic maps and documents may contain clues about the identity of who worked or
lived in the house. However, from the 1910s to the 1970s, a series of devastating historic
events occurred in Nanjing, including the Nanjing Massacre and the nationwide Cultural
Revolution. Relying on the opportunity of renovating campus buildings during the centennial
anniversary of the university in 2002, a box of historic documents, maps and architectural
drawings were found in the loft of the campus dormitory. They may have been stored there
intentionally to avoid them being destroyed or confiscated.

These documents included UNK campus planning maps, which were sorted
chronologically to determine when the residence had been built. The first map to show the
profile of a ‘new residence’ fitting that of the residence is a 1911 site survey map. The house
appears on every campus map since, and on the ‘Map of Ing Property Purchased by UNK’ in
1919 reproduced in Figure 2 the building is labelled ‘Mr Williams House #9° (‘3% in
Chinese), providing a key piece of information. From this point onwards, the key figure who
lived in the house emerged. This led to further questions to be solved in the next section:

e Who was Williams?

e  Why was his house built in the central area of the university campus?



e  What is the significance for Nanjing University of Williams and his former

residence?
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Figure 2 Map of Ing Property Purchased by UNK
Source: Archive of Nanjing University (Volume 15, Campus Planning)

3. Discovering Williams
3.1 Who was Williams

During a visit to the University of Pennsylvania in the United States (US) in 2011, the
author by chance had purchased a second-hand biography entitled John E. Williams of
Nanking (Wheeler 1937; Figure 3). According to this biography, Williams’ full name was

John Elias Williams (1871-1927), born in Coshocton, Ohio (US).



Figure 3 John E. Williams of Nanking

Williams received his commission as a missionary, being appointed to the Central China
Mission of the Board, with ‘special funds’ supplied by the End Presbyterian Church of New
York for his service in China. John and his wife Lilian Williams sailed for China attended a
mission meeting held in Soochow on 20 September 1899. It was at these meetings that
‘newly appointed missionaries were assigned generally to a mission, and the mission had the
right of assignment to a particular station on the field” (Wheeler 1937, 43). Following the

resignation of TW Houston—the second principal of the Presbyterian Academy (7 2 15 F5)!

in Nanjing—Williams was assigned its third principal (Wheeler 1937, 58).

During the time in the Presbyterian Academy, Williams considered the issue of scattered
educational resources in Nanjing by different missionary schools founded by different
churches in China and advocated for cooperation rather than competition among missionary

schools and churches. This idea contributed to establishing a united school in Nanjing. To

! The Presbyterian Academy was founded by the American Presbyterian Mission.



promote consolidation of schools and colleges in Nanjing, during his furlough, Williams
raised $30,000 in cash and pledges, and $10,000 credit for land as a foundation for the
campus of a new united UNK (Wheeler 1937, 65-66). The Presbyterian Academy was
merged with the Christian College (3£ 15F5%)? and united under the name Union Christian
College (% & 15Bt) in 1906. It then merged with Nanking University (JL. 3 F555¢) in 1910 to
become UNK (%% K2, Figure 4) and Williams was appointed as its vice president

(Wheeler 1937, 58).
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Figure 4 The administrative history of UNK

3.2 The death of J.E. Williams

Williams was an influential person in the promotion of Chinese higher education.
However, he was sadly killed during the Nanjing Incident® in 1927. Despite varying
descriptions of this incident, the widely accepted background is as follows. The advancing
troops of the Nationalists” Northern Expedition Army arrived in Nanjing on 23 March and the
defending troops of the Zhili—-Shandong coalition were forced to withdraw into the city. The

Northern Expedition Army thus broke into the city and caused chaos on 24 March. During

2 The Christian College was founded by the Christian Mission.

3 The Nanking Incident occurred on March 21-23, 1927 when Kuomintang (Chinese Nationalist) troops
entered the city as part of their Northern Expedition military campaign (1926-1928). Troops particularly
targeted the city's foreign residents; several were killed or injured and their property looted, and the American,

Japanese and British consulates were attacked.



that period, large-scale anti-foreign activities* were undertaken throughout China: robberies
and looting occurred frequently and some foreigners were even killed. These contributed to
the Nanjing Incident, which had a devastating impact on the UNK. Among these impacts, the
most grieved was the death of Vice President John E Williams. Wheeler (1937, 25-26)

depicts the events of the morning of 24 March 1927 as follows:

The soldier in front of Dr. Bowen® took his watch; the soldier before Dr.
Williams reached for his watch and chain. In a friendly, half-joking way
Dr. Williams remarked in Chinese, ‘You don't want to take that, do you?
That watch isn't worth much, but my mother gave it to me and I would like
to keep it’. The soldier who had been in such an ugly mood pointed his rifle
at Dr. Williams, and shooting from the hip, pulled the trigger. With a cry of
‘Kwai! kwai!” (‘How strange!’) Dr. Williams fell to the ground with a

bullet through his temple.

Williams’ death was mournful and tragic. According to Xie (2018), Williams’ tomb
was located in the (since destroyed) foreign cemetery in the southwest part of Qingliang
Mount in Nanjing. His gravestone was carved with an epitaph written by Zhengting
Wang, then foreign minister of the Republic of China, and the epitaph was reproduced in
the Tribute in Memory of Dr. John Elias Williams (Figure 5). In this tribute, Wang
acknowledges Williams’ contribution to China and his kindness to Chinese people and

expresses his deep regret and sadness over Williams’ death.

* Since the early 1920s, ‘de-Christianise’ movements emerged to ‘take back’ education from foreign
churches in China. They opposed imperialist cultural invasion by Christian education and aimed to promote
nationalist education by Chinese staff; this later intensified unto further nationwide anti-imperialist actions as
part of the May 30 Movement of 1925.

> A J Bowen was then president of UNK.



Figure 5 A copy of Williams’ epitaph (top) and a photo of his tomb (bottom)

Source: Tribute in Memory of Dr. John Elias Williams from the Yale University Divinity School Library
Repository
4. Williams’ House and University of Nanking
4.1 The reason for the site selection for Williams’ residence
Among the collected materials, the earliest showing Williams’ House is a site survey

map of the UNK in 1911 drawn by a US architect (Figure 6). This precious map clearly



presents the road system, ponds and property plots around the campus area of UNK. The map

also shows existing missionary buildings (in red colour) and those non-missionary buildings

(in grey colour) that were demolished for the construction of campus later.
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Figure 6 Survey of the site of UNK in 1911

Source: Yale University Divinity School Library Repository (Box 196-3833)

This 1911 site survey map shows several new residences are shown on the map,

including the position of Williams’ House as evident from its shape. The vacant lot at the

northern end of the campus, which is the historic landmark area of Nanjing University today,

provides further evidence that Williams’ House is located

at the central part of the campus.

This raises the question of why the house was built in the central area of the university

campus. Among the materials, a 1914 campus site plannin

g map offers a clue (Figure 7) that

the outline of Williams’ House overlaps with a building profile drawn with dashed lines,

which is also true for Bullock’s House. Architectural drawings thus indicate that the two

houses were planned for demolition to accommodate the future construction of new

buildings, suggesting that Williams’ House was only supposed to be temporary.



Figure 7 UNK campus planning map (1914)

Source: Archive of Nanjing University (Volume 16, Campus planning 02)

Among the collected materials, two photos taken from Williams’ House show that the
position of the house has a broad view over the future campus. Thus it is conceivable that the
house was built as a watchtower to supervise the construction of the school buildings on the
campus (Figure 8). In addition, a historic topographical map in 1914, overlayed with the
campus plan (Figure 7) illustrates that Williams’ House had been built before 1914 when the
adjoining land for future construction of other school buildings was still a sloped vacant lot,

which also supports the above assumption (Figure 9).



Figure 8 Photos taken from Williams’ House

Source: Archive of Nanjing University

Figure 9 Topographical map of the campus (1914)

Source: Archive of Nanjing University (Volume 16, Campus planning 06); School buildings and Williams’

House were drawn and coloured by the author based on Figure 8



All materials examined as described above prove that Williams’ House is one of the
oldest buildings at the northern end of the campus, evidence for Williams’ ambition to settle
on the campus personally and establish a new university for modern high education in China.
4.2 Architectural information about Williams’ House through historic photos

Having discovered the relationship between UNK and Williams’ House, the heritage
value of this residence has been defined. As part of the commissioned project, it is also
necessary to understand the original appearance of this building, to conserve and repair it.

Perkins, Fellows & Hamilton Architects (1925) describe the school buildings and
campus planning of the UNK in the journal the American Architect. A panoramic photo
attached to their paper shows several buildings including Williams’ House, the Sage Chapel,
the Administration Building (the Severance Hall), the Science building (the Swasey Hall) and

the Drum Tower outside the campus, respectively (Figure 10).

The Administation Buliding Science building

/ The: Dium Tower

Figure 10 Full view of the old campus of UNK (1920)

Source: (Perkins Fellows & Hamilton Architects, 1925)



Another photo of the Sage Chapel of UNK taken between 1924 and 1927 was recovered
from the photography collections of Sidney David Gamble.¢ To illustrate the complex
appearance and surrounding environment of the chapel, Gamble took this photo from the

northeast corner of the chapel, also capturing the northern elevation of Williams’ House

(Figure 11).

Figure 11 The Sage Chapel and north elevation of Williams' House (1924-27)

Source: Duke University Library

As a renovation project, restoring the building to its original appearance is the target;
however, as it has been renovated several times its exterior and interior architectural
characteristics have changed dramatically. Figures 10 and 11 provide some evidence
regarding the original form and appearance of Williams’ House. According to these photos
taken from the north and south side of Williams’ House respectively, the house was built with

three dormers (on the south, east and west sides), which are preserved in the current building.

¢ Sidney David Gamble (1890-1968) was an American socio-economist. Gamble visited China several

times and took many precious photos that recorded the landscape and lifestyle in early 20th century China.



A sunporch can also be seen on the east side of the building. A sunporch (i.e. veranda), which
was rarely used in traditional Chinese residences, reflects the typical lifestyle of a Western
family and influenced the modernisation of residences in China since the late 19th century
(Liu 2011). However, the sunporch of Williams’ House might be considered more than just a
lifestyle feature. Based on our visual analysis in Figure 8, Williams’ sunporch may have been
used as a location from which to supervise the construction progress of campus buildings.

Although Figures 10 and 11 offer evidence regarding the original form and appearance of
Williams’ House, the colours of the building materials were missing. Thanks to new Al
technology, it was able to apply online Al Photo Coloriser to automatically colourise the
photos by uploading the black-and-white photos without any tunning.” These colourised
photos offer evidence for later reconstruction and renovation. For example, the colourised
photos show that the house was built using grey bricks with four white timber windows in US
style, as well as two chimneys, and the roof was built with a light colour, which all contribute
to the later restoration.

5. Conserving Williams’ House as a heritage building

In 2018, William’s House was listed as a historic building by Nanjing Government and
our team was commissioned to propose a conservation scenario for this building.

After undertook this commission in 2018, we carefully inspected the oldest building in
the north Gulou campus. The survey revealed that Williams’ residence is composed of the
main house and an attached part with a total area of 667 m?, including a basement (67 m?)
and a loft (73 m?). Bricks and timber are the main materials used: both the main house and
the attached part are constructed from masonry and timber. This was the typical structure
combining Western and Chinese architectural and structural features in the early 20th century

(L1 2004, 9). The main house, located to the south, has a typical US house style, while the

7 In this paper, a collage of the colourised and original photos has been used to show the difference.



attached part occupied by a kitchen and staircases is located in the north-west. The main
entrance to the house faces east. There are three rooms on the ground floor (originally used as
living, reading and dining rooms), and four bedrooms on the upper floor. Sunporches are
attached to the southeast corner of the main house at both the ground and upper floors.

Before explaining our inspection and conservation strategy in the following sections,
Figure 12 shows the appearance of Williams’ House before and after conservation, which
gives the reader a general impression of the result of the renovation. In the following

sections, the survey and conservation scenario are introduced in five parts.

Figure 12 Before and after conservation

5.1 Survey and conservation of brick walls

As the building has been renovated several times by different departments, the layout has
changed drastically. The interior space has been reorganised by the addition of new walls and
the facade of the house, originally left with bare brick, has been covered by cement mortar.
To repair a historic building, it is necessary to understand how it was constructed. To that
end, the cement mortar was peeled off and additional external brick walls were dismantled,
which blocked the sunporch, to reveal the original layout and external material for inspection.
When inspecting the connection part between the main house and the attached part, we found
it is obvious that the main house and the attached part were constructed in different types of
masonry bonds were used in their exterior walls (Figure 13). No strong evidence has been

found to explain why the house has two parts and uses different types of bonds in its brick



masonry. A possible hypothesis is that the difference reflects the innovation of craftspeople in
saving on bricks and construction time. Despite the difference in exterior walls, the plinths in
both the main house and the attached part are constructed with a strong bond type called

‘Flemish Bond’ to ensure the steadiness of the foundations.
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Figure 13 The construction of the brick walls of the main house and the attached part
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Figure 14 Reinforcement of the brick wall

During the survey, after the cement mortar was peeled off, the masonry structure of the
building was looked vulnerable that many bricks of the house were destroyed and became
rough and fragmented, which is structurally unqualified and needed reinforcement (Figure 14
left). To conserve the exterior brick wall fagade of the building, bar-mat reinforcement was
added on the inside of exterior walls (Figure 14 right).

Some of the openings in the exterior wall were blocked off and bricks around some
openings were fragmented. Relying on our research on the construction of openings in brick
walls (Figure 15), the openings were repaired according to vestigial evidence on the walls
and the layout of the house. For example, fragmented bricks were replaced and the openings
were recovered by adding flat arches® using the original construction method (Figure 16). Via

this conservation approach, the original appearance of the walls has been recovered.

8 A flat arch (sometimes called a straight arch) is a beam or lintel formed of cut brick laid in a radiating

pattern, having a straight top and a soffit that may be either straight or with a camber.
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Figure 16 Before and after the repair of an opening

5.2 Survey and conservation of the interior space

The layout of the interior space of the Williams’ House has its historic value. However,
since the house had been and was planned to be used as an office building before and after
renovation, there might be conflicts between its historic values and use value because the
layout had been and will be changed to some extent. Thus, the renovation should compromise
and balance the historic value and use value.

To balance its historic value and use value, the current ground and upper floor plans were
drawn based on the architectural survey and the new plan was designed to maximally recover
the original plan of the Williams’ House (Figure 17). When the cement mortar was peeled
off, some traces that implied the original positions of the partition walls of the house were

revealed. Thus, new light-weight partition walls have been added based on pieces of evidence



that include these existing traces and other similar housing plans (e.g., the Bullock’s House
and Pearl S Buck’s House) on campus. As mentioned in section 6.1, to meet the requirement
of structural safety, the inner side of the exterior brick walls was reinforced. Both the inner
side of the exterior walls and new lightweight partition walls were painted white for the
brightness of the interior space. Since white plastering was found originally during the
survey, the white coloured interior space balanced the historic value and use value. In
addition, some original brick walls were conserved, especially the fireplaces, which act as the
mark of its history and the typical indoor features of an American styled house built in

Nanjing then.
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Figure 17 Floor plan of Williams’ House (before and after renovation)

Source: Photo credit after renovation belongs to Bowen Hou (left)

5.3 Survey and conservation of the sunporch
The sunporch from which we assume that Williams supervised the construction of the

school buildings on the campus is another significant element of the facade of Williams’



House. As Figure 12 shows, before conservation, the sunporch was blocked off by later-
added brick walls and covered by cement mortar with a white coating. Therefore, the initial
step was to deconstruct the additional walls to examine the status of the original sunporch.
The architectural survey of the deconstruction process suggested that the structure of the
sunporch was weak as the columns were constructed using bricks connected only by timber
beams, which had been damaged by moths. A fragment embedded in the columns illustrated
that handrails had originally been installed around the sunporch, offering evidence for later
conservation; however, the handrails were missing following multiple renovations. Second,
the size and position of the holes in the columns implied there were ceilings under the floor.
These speculations were later proven by a historic photo of Williams’ House taken from
the southeast corner (Figure 18). Although the photo is of poor quality, it clearly shows the
sunporch with white ceilings and handrails, as well as white windows and doors, which

needed to be recovered.



Figure 18 An unclear photo of Williams’ House
Source: Nanjing University Library

As ceilings covered the structure of the sunporch, it was able to strengthen the structure
with new materials and techniques rather than repairing the original beams, without
compromising the appearance. To recover the sunporch and ensure its structural safety, steel
and reinforced concrete were used to rebuild the floor with timber decking as the surface
material. Although steel was not the original material used in the floor of the sunporch, it has
better durability as it cannot be damaged by moths, and could be hidden by ceilings under the

floor (Figure 19).



Figure 19 The sunporch repair process

5.4 Survey and conservation of the underground level

To reinforce the brick walls of Williams’ House, the foundations were needed to be
strengthened as well. When the timber decking of the ground floor was removed, an
interesting underground level was uncovered.

To protect the house from moisture and humidity from underground, the interior was
constructed with raised timber flooring and an underground ventilation system. In Williams’
House, the underground level was constructed with brick sleeper walls to support the beams
for the raised flooring. These sleeper walls divide the underground space into several zones,
with openings between different zones reserved for ventilation. The underground space of the
main house is divided into eight zones, including two long rectangular zones, five short
rectangular zones and an L-shaped zone (Figure 20). Except for the latter, each zone has a
venting interface on the exterior wall with a ventilation opening. The divisions of the
underground level mean that humid air can be taken away, giving the timber flooring of the
ground level more durability.

Normally, sleeper walls are constructed in the middle of a ventilation zone and
perpendicular to the exterior wall to divide underground zones. However, the sleeper walls of

Williams’ House connect obliquely to the exterior walls in two positions (red circles in



Figure 19). This unusual method of construction avoids the ventilation openings on the
central axes of the exterior walls. Thus, the speculation is that Williams’ House may have
been constructed in a hurry and the oblique connection may be an on-site adjustment during
its construction process.

Given the height difference between the interior and exterior space, two platforms served
as side entrances to the attached part of the house. To maximise the use of space under the
east-side platform, a partially underground emergency fire pool was installed (Figure 20).
Next to the fire pool under the attached part is an underground area located on the west side.
Other than as a venting zone, this area is used as a storeroom, so underground venting zones

are isolated between the main house and the attached part.
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Underground Level
Figure 20 Underground level of Williams’ House

5.5 Survey and conservation of timber floors

Timber, especially Douglas fir, is widely used in Williams’ House. Douglas fir is a high-
quality wood with few knots. It has high strength, wear-resistance and corrosion resistance,
and was widely imported and used in buildings in China in the early 20th century. In
masonry—timber structures, brick walls are constructed to support timber joists. In Williams’
House, floors are composed of timber joists and decking.

As mentioned in Section 5.3, the timber decking of the ground floor was removed to

reinforce the building foundations. Following this step, to protect the heritage value, the



timber decking to the ground level should be reinstated to ensure material authenticity;
however, as the original timber was scuffed and caused an uneven floor, the university
administrator requested it should be replaced with newly qualified timber decking. To
preserve the material authenticity and collective memory associated with the original decking
timber, it was used as a memorial decoration to cover an interior wall for touching to feel the

sense of time and place (Figure 21).

Figure 21 An interior wall covered by decking timbers disassembled from the ground floor

Source: Photo credit belongs to Bowen Hou

Regarding the upper floor, after dismantling the ceilings, it was clear to see that the
timber joists were laid into walls at both ends to support the load of the upper floor. In
addition, X-shaped timber connections were used in the cavities between the timber joists

under the floor to ensure its structural integrity and stability (Figure 22). The quality of the



upper floor timbers was better than those of the ground floor, so the timber decking on the

upper floor was preserved to ensure the material authenticity.

Figure 22 X-shaped timber connections between the timber joists

5.6 Survey and conservation of the roof

The roof of Williams’ House is special and complex. It is composed of a three-roof
system. To understand its roof systems, a digital model was built in which the three roof
systems are coloured yellow, brown and purple, respectively (Figure 23). The diagram shows
the loft area under the brown roof truss with three dormer windows attached to it. As the
brown roof truss covers the main loft space with the largest span, it reaches 12.5 metres, with
120 x 250 mm? in section size. These spans and sizes of materials are rarely used in Chinese
residences in the early 20th century, demonstrating the special architectural heritage value of
Williams’ House.

In terms of roof conservation, the loft space was renovated and the roof structure was
intentionally exposed to show its value. Most of the roof boarding has been retained except
for some leaking pieces, and insulation is planned to be added above the roof boarding to
meet current requirements; although this process has been cancelled as a result of

administrative issues.



Figure 23 The digital model of the roof truss (top) and photo of the roof truss after renovation (bottom)

Source: Photo credit after renovation belongs to Bowen Hou (bottom)

6. Discussion and conclusion
By analysing collected historic documents, photos and maps, this research-based project
discovers an anonymous building constructed before 1911 as the residence of J. E. Williams,

a former vice president of UNK. Archives and documents reveal the life story of Williams,



especially his contributions to higher education in China and to the construction of the UNK
campus, which enrich the history of the university. In this project, how to highlight the
original form and appearance of the house by researching its construction conditions and
techniques, and how to link the architectural heritage of the house with Williams’
contribution to the construction of UNK were deliberately considered.

A campus is a place with genius loci. This requires us—as students, staff and alumni—to
understand the history and development process of our campus. An understanding of campus
history may help us build a connection between us and the campus, and shape our identity.
More importantly, architectural heritage along with its built environment becomes the ‘time-
space mark’ of campus because they store the history and memory of the place and play a
role as an educator and an advocator for the unique information of the campus. Therefore,
regarding conservation, the history and information attached to the campus architectural
heritage should be respected to maximise its cultural influence and create a sense of place.

In conclusion, this project offers us an opportunity to see Williams fought for higher
education in China. His sacrifice should be remembered and his contributions marked along
with Williams’ House on campus become a symbol that contributes to the sense of place at

Nanjing University.
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